In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

IN THE MATTER OF JOSHUA RAMOS, AKA ERNESTO JOSHUA RAMOS, an individual Appellant Electronically Filed Jun 30 2021 07:09 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No.:82102

Eighth Judicial District District Court Case No.: A-20-813230-C Hon. David M. Jones, presiding

vs.

DANA WHITE, an individual; UFC HOLDINGS, LLC, ZUFFA, LLC, doing business as the ULTIMATE FIGHTING CHAMPIONSHIP, a Nevada limited liability company; DOES I through X inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through V, inclusive; Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Prepared by:

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter as it is an appeal from the District Court's October 19, 2020, final order resolving all claims between all parties dismissing all Appellant's claims with prejudice. The notice of entry of order was served on October 20, 2020 and the notice of appeal was timely filed on November 10, 2020, pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant respectfully submits that this appeal is appropriate for resolution/decision in the Supreme Court, pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11)(12): Cases involving matters of public interest and first impression; and pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(6): cases with over \$75,000 in controversy.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- a. Whether the district court followed the applicable standard in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss.
- b. Appellant's complaint pled claims for breach of contract, contractual breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and unjust enrichment.
- c. Whether the court erred in failing to allow Appellants to Amend the complaint before dismissing with prejudice.

|||

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from an order dismissing Appellant Ramos's claims in case number A-20-813230-C by the District Court (the "Order") with prejudice.

This is a case where a remedy exists at law or in equity for the benefit of the Non-Disclosure Agreement (hereinafter, "NDA") requested by White for the benefit of Respondents. Respondents requested and indicated they would pay for an NDA from Ramos from early November 2015 through July 5, 2016 On July 5th, 2016 Respondents withdrew the request for a NDA and indicated they would not pay Ramos for the NDA benefit already received, only four days before the announced sale of the UFC for \$4.2 billion.

The 14-page Complaint filed on April 3, 2020 (ROA 001-014), alleged (1) Breach of Contract; (2) Contractual Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; (3) Tortious Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; and (4) Unjust Enrichment.¹

In response to the complaint, Respondents, filed a motion to dismiss on August 31, 2020. At hearing on October 7, 2020, the motion was orally granted. The Court's minute order indicated only the unjust enrichment claims was dismissed. (ROA 088) On October 19, 2020 the Court issued a written order dismissing the

¹ Appellant concedes that his claims for tortious breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing does not apply and its dismissal is not appealed.

entire complaint with prejudice and did not grant the requested leave to amend (ROA 089-101).

The district court's stated reasons for its decision at hearing did not apply the proper standard for dismissal, were erroneous, and based on improper finding of facts contrary to the allegations in the complaint. The written Order prepared and submitted by Respondents' counsel did not fully reflect the Court's decision and reasoning at hearing.

The district court made factual findings, not set forth in the Order as such, but stated on the record at hearing, essentially holding that while Ramos had stated claims based on those factual findings held no relief could be granted. Those factual findings are contrary to those pled by Ramos, were adverse to Ramos, and speculative in applying the Judge's personal opinion of the law and relying on personal interpretations of what another judge would have done in Ramos's criminal proceeding. The dismissal of unjust enrichment was premised on superseded authority that Respondents represented to the court as current authority, which the district court relied on to hold that Ramos could not prevail on his claims.

Appellant appeals the premature dismissal of claims properly pled and supported by the allegations in the complaint and the denial of an opportunity to correct any deficiencies by amending the complaint.

3

The Court denied Ramos the opportunity to amend the complaint without finding futility, despite it's query on the record that facts appeared to need to be "fleshed out" (ROA 155-156, TR 37:25-38:1).

The notice of entry of order was e-served on October 20, 2020. Appellant then filed his notice of appeal timely on November 10, 2020.

V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Though the parties put different spins on the underlying facts and they require the further inquiry provided by discovery the basic facts are not in dispute. On a Motion to Dismiss the facts as pled are the facts that this court reviews de novo. Following is a brief recap of those facts setting the context of this case.

Respondent White had taken an interest in Ramos's live-in girlfriend, the mother of a child of Ramos's ("Ms. Doe" or "Doe"), after meeting her while she worked as an entertainer at Spearmint Rhino gentlemen's club, which White frequented. White, in October 2014, then president of the UFC, solicited Doe and traveled to Brazil with Ms. Doe for a UFC fight and engaged in sexual conduct with Doe. (ROA 014, ¶3)

At the time White solicited her, Doe did not have a passport, so the UFC obtained a one-day expedited passport for her. The UFC also provided her a first-class air ticket, lodging, and paid ground expenses in Brazil.

While in Brazil, White and Doe engaged in sexual relations, which Doe recorded on her phone and provided to Ramos. Upon return, White had the UFC Security Chief deliver \$10,000.00 in Spearmint Rhino "chips" to Doe at the Spearmint Rhino strip club, of which management pocketed \$2,000.00.

White continued to have contact with Doe after returning to Las Vegas. Ramos, being upset, contacted White through White's "off the books phone" seeking to meet and discuss the situation. No other demands were made at that time. However, because White ignored Ramos – and to establish his connection to Ms. Doe – Ramos sent a video clip of White's sexual encounter to White on or about Dec 7, 2014.

White then used his substantial influence to set up a meeting with The U.S. Attorney's office and the FBI to have Ramos prosecuted for extortion.² Despite admitting to the FBI that he committed a felony violation of the Mann Act (*see Id.*), White and his counsel succeeded in getting the FBI to commence an investigation. The goal was to entrap Ramos for extortion by getting him to request payment for the video recordings.

² It should be noted that Extortion is a *state* offense, with which Ramos was never charged. Eventually, he pled guilty to use of his phone to commit extortion, a Federal crime, even though the demand for payment – the alleged extortion – was made in person.

After his arrest in January 2015, Ramos was released on bail with standard conditions, including a "no contact" condition. As and as the case proceeded toward indictment and plea, the government and Ramos's attorney stipulated to a protective order in October 2015 (the "Protective Order," ROA 52 to 53). The Protective Order was pursuant to the Crime Victims' Rights Act of 2004 (18 U.S.C. § 3771) and provided White's identity was not to be disclosed by the government or defense *counsel* during the court proceeding. (See, e.g. ROA 039 to 040.) The only personal restraints in the Protective Order on Ramos were 1) that he was unable to have or view discovery materials outside the presence of Defense Counsel of Record; and 2) that he could only refer to White as "Victim 1" during proceedings in the criminal case. (Id.) Notably, there was no other restraint on Ramos, which Respondent's attorneys realized, and which prompted the request for the Non-Disclosure Agreement, hereinafter "NDA."

Shortly before Ramos was to plead guilty in early November 2015 – and roughly a month after the protective order was entered – Hunter Campbell, Esq., contacted, unsolicited, Ramos's attorney, Gabriel Grasso Esq. Mr. Campbell requested that Ramos an "NDA" with White after Ramos pled guilty. (ROA 008, ¶61)

No offer of payment for Ramos's silence was made at that time, White instead requested a mediation after the scheduled sentencing date, some 5 months later, for the purpose of determining compensation for the NDA. Ramos agreed to a mediation to set the amount of compensation and maintained his silence and did not disclose White's identity (despite substantial public interest) during the five months from the call until the April 2016 mediation.

At the scheduled mediation White failed to offer any compensation for the NDA he had enjoyed the benefit of for 5 months (ROA 009, ¶78), effectively telling Ramos to "pound sand" and terminating the mediation.

After the mediation, White and the remaining Respondents recognized that the sale of the UFC was not yet final and that the Protective Order only required the video be destroyed after the delayed *sentencing*. White through counsel continued to engage with Ramos regarding payments and thereafter dangled up to \$450,000.00 in front of Ramos and Doe to induce their continuing silence. (Opp'n at 7:17-18; Compl., ROA #101, ¶12) White clearly in bad faith made no *genuine* effort to negotiate and finalize a payment for the NDA in the 3 months following the failed mediation, instead biding his time while the sale of the UFC headed to a closing.

On June 30, 2016, Ramos was sentenced by Judge Navarro – who, in open court, stated she had no issue with White and Ramos reaching an agreement (NDA) through counsel – to one year in federal custody.³ On July 5, 2016, after nine months

³ Judge Navarro rejected Ramos's attempt to withdraw his plea. This was later upheld on appeal. Appellant is not seeking to overturn the criminal conviction in this appeal.

of enjoying the full benefit of his requested NDA and without paying Ramos a penny, White's attorney, Mr. Campbell again called Mr. Grasso and unilaterally terminated negotiations and withdrew any offers for the NDA.

On July 9, 2016, four days after withdrawing the request for an NDA and terminating negotiations, the sale of the UFC to IMG Entertainment was announced for 4.2 billion dollars. White and Respondents by then had realized the full benefit of the NDA: White kept his job as UFC president and went off to enjoy his portion of the bounty (reportedly 9% of the sale price).

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred when it failed to apply the proper standard in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss. The district court looked to sources and evidence outside of the face of the complaint and failed to take all factual allegations in the complaint as true. Instead the court made factual findings adverse to Appellant's claims and factual allegations in the Amended Complaint and accepted Respondent's view of the facts – a clear violation of the well-established standard of review for a motion to dismiss.

Judge Navarro said, "I understand that there might be some communication with the victim through counsel. And so I'll permit that. Although, again, it's not my responsibility to try to negotiate any kind of civil issues. So that's up to you." (ROA 63)

An example of this is the court indicating it had looked to the underlying criminal matter (beyond those exhibits to the pleadings) and interpreted what Judge Navarro **would have done, not what she did**, in reaching the incorrect dismissal of the unjust enrichment claim. (ROA 160 L. 7-10) The court concluded that Ramos was personally restrained from identifying White **based on its own personal speculation of what Judge Navarro would have done, not based on the facts, and not on the face of the Protective Order itself.**

Had the district court properly stayed within the face of the complaint,⁴ it would have been forced to deny Respondents' motion to dismiss. Ramos presented facts in the complaint that would entitle a finder of fact to find in his favor for his causes of action of breach of contract and/or unjust enrichment. The additional documents before the court did not provide any basis to reject the allegations in the complaint.

Appellant pled breach of contract, bad faith in contract and unjust enrichment with more than sufficient supporting facts under notice pleading. Both Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and the courts' Order and comments at hearing recognize the sufficiency thereof. And despite this, the court dismissed Ramos's complaint and

⁴ The additional documents attached to the briefs neither correct the Motion for a Summary Judgement nor provide facts sufficient to override the Complaint's allegations.

failed to provide him leave to amend his complaint without regard to the "futility test" (as stated in *Allum v. Valley Bank*) that will be discussed below.

Finally, the Order does not adequately or properly reflect the findings at the hearing on the motion to dismiss, nor does it apply applicable law. Instead, it is a basic regurgitation of Respondent's reply to the opposition to their motion to dismiss. Put simply, the district court should not have delegated its duty to prepare an order on a dispositive motion to Respondent.

VII. ARGUMENT

1. ISSUE 1: Standard of Review for a Granted Motion to Dismiss.

This is an appeal from a trial-court order granting respondent's motion to dismiss. The court reviews a grant of a motion to dismiss de novo. *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28 (2008). Reversal of the Order of Dismissal upon de novo review is clearly mandated when the allegations in the Complaint are accepted as true.

On appeal, a motion to dismiss "is subject to a rigorous standard of review." *Id.* at 227. All factual allegations in the complaint are recognized as true and all inferences are drawn in the plaintiff's favor. *Id.* at 228. A complaint should only be dismissed if it appears beyond a doubt that plaintiff could prove no set of facts, which, if true would entitle it to relief. *Id.* The standard is not intended to prematurely end cases before discovery occurs, which may prove or disprove a claim.

NRAP 32(a)(7)(C)

In *Chowdhry* the court held that, in ruling on a motion to dismiss, the court must accept the plaintiff's evidence as true and draw all permissible inferences in the plaintiff's favor, and may not assess the credibility of witnesses or the weight of the evidence. *Chowdhry v. NLVH, Inc.*, 109 Nev. 478, 482, 851 P.2d 459, 461 (1993). A court must take all factual allegations in the complaint as true and not delve into matters asserted defensively that are not apparent from the face of the complaint. *See Buzz Stew, LLC* at 227-28.

The trial court failed to abide by these standards. Instead, it rendered factual determinations, misinterpreted and applied superseded authority, and then applied the law based on its own views, independent research, and opinion and did not accept the allegations of the complaint as true. This is especially egregious when Ramos never had the opportunity to conduct discovery to support the allegations in the complaint. There is no issue as to whether the complaint satisfied notice pleading standards as both Respondents and the court understood the claims, as demonstrated by the record of the proceedings. The claims herein were clearly articulated and are supported by the pled facts; dismissing these claims before discovery is error.

The Court's failure to abide by the proper standard, while pervasive through the hearing and in the Order, is explicit in its finding there was no contract to breach and that Ramos was legally restrained from identifying White. Even if the Court's adverse factual conclusions eventually were proven correct, they are factual findings adverse to the Appellants claims as pled and therefore not appropriate for determinations on a motion to dismiss.

A review of three pages of the hearing transcript demonstrates the failure to follow the proper standard.

At pages 37 and 38 (ROA 152-153) of the hearing transcript the Court indicated it was troubled by the close timing of the withdrawal of the request for the NDA 3 days before the sale of the UFC was announce, particularly in light of the Court's skepticism that the UFC had no reputation to protect by a NDA. Rather than let Ramos "flesh this out" the Court dismissed its' legitimate concerns and dismissed the complaint.

On page 43 of the transcript (ROA 160) the Court found that Ramos was under a "gag order" or "nondissemination order" without any express evidence thereof and instead apparently reading the protective order as more than it was. (ROA 160, L.1-3.) Then to bolster this finding which served as the factual basis to dismiss the unjust enrichment claim, the Court expressed its personal opinion of what Judge Navarro's position was. This conclusion that Navarro was adamant in preserving White's identity is suspect when the sentencing transcript excerpt is reviewed where Judge Navarro indicated counsel for the parties were free to negotiate an NDA. (RAO 076, L.1-5) Implicit in allowing those negotiations is that Ramos was not prevented from disclosing White's identity. The court's factual conclusion in this regard is clearly adverse to Ramos' incorrect and reversible error.

Following is a summary outline of the factual allegations in the Amended Complaint and the basics of the law regarding those claims, which is what the court should have restricted its inquiry to and will mandate reversal.

2. ISSUE 2: The claims are pled and supported by the facts articulated in the Amended Complaint.

The standard of review is de novo and the Court's review should be directed not to the error's resulting in the dismissal below but whether the Complaint pled claims upon which Ramos can prevail.

A review of the complaint's factual allegations taken in the most favorable light satisfies the pleading standard for a complaint to survive a motion to dismiss as stated below.

a. Breach of Contract

To be enforceable contract only requires "offer and acceptance, meeting of the minds, and consideration." *May v. Anderson*, 121 Nev. 668, 672, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005).

In *Certified Fire*, the court held that it could be found that a valid "impliedin-fact" contract was entered into as "manifested by conduct." *Certified Fire Prot. Inc. v. Precision Constr. Inc.*, 128 Nev. 371, 380, 283 P.3d 250, 256 (2012), citations omitted. A fact finder must conclude that the parties intended to contract and that promises were exchanged, and that the general obligations were sufficiently clear. *Id.* at 380. Missing payment terms could be determined by quantum meruit. *Id.*

To survive a Motion to dismiss on a breach of contract claim, Ramos had to plead a contract and a breach, which he did. Proving a contract is not required and as stated in *Certified Fire*, the existence of a contract is left to the fact finder.

Amended Complaint Paragraphs 61, 64-71, 81-93 (ROA 8-9, 10-11) all set forth factual allegations of an agreement to mediate to determine payment for an NDA. The mediation occurred, which the court correctly recognized as an agreement.⁵ Taken in the most favorable light to Appellant, the contract alleged in the Amended Complaint was breached.

Ramos clearly pled his understanding of the contract to mediate, which the Court was bound to accept. Respondents requested the NDA from Ramos in exchange for mediation to determine the amount of compensation for Ramos's silence. The Amended Complaint stated that Ramos accepted when he agreed to keep silent, kept silent, and finally appeared at mediation on April 5, 2016 to discuss compensation. Ramos's silence through the date of mediation (and thereafter)

⁵ Judge Navarro said, "At best, (there was) a preliminary agreement to attend a mediation." (ROA 113 L.1-3)

indicates he performed under the contract. The contract here was manifested and confirmed by conduct.

Despite the district court's concession that a contract was pled when it stated "at best" a contract to mediate was pled, the court dismissed the breach of contract claim by making factual findings in the light most favorable to the *Respondents*. The court made a factual determination that there was no consideration when it concluded that there could be no contract until the amount of compensation for the NDA was reached, stating there was merely an agreement to negotiate. (ROA 113 L.7-8). *Certified Fire, supra,* adopts the general view that where goods or services are received failure to agree on compensation does not preclude relief.

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