IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed

Aug 20 2021 05:20 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

JOSHUA RAMOS, aka ERNESTO JOSHUA RAMOS, acijenki vid supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

DANA WHITE, an individual; UFC HOLDINGS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; ZUFFA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, dba ULTIMATE FIGHTING CHAMPIONSHIP; DOES I through X, inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through V, inclusive

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. A-20-813230-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS
DONALD J. CAMPBELL (1216)
djc@cwlawlv.com
J. COLBY WILLIAMS (5549)
jcw@cwlawlv.com
PHILIP R. ERWIN (11563)
pre@cwlawlv.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Just because the dismissal standards applicable to NRCP 12(b)(5) undoubtedly favor plaintiffs (or pleaders), that does not mean every complaint automatically clears the Rule's deferential hurdle. Where, for example, the face of a pleading provides unnecessary details that negate purported causes of action by showing beyond doubt that a party can prove no set of facts entitling it to relief, Rule 12(b)(5) compels dismissal. Ramos's complaint falls squarely into this category.

Allegations in a complaint are judicial admissions. See Reyburn Lawn & Landscape Designers, Inc. v. Plaster Dev. Co., Inc., 127 Nev. 331, 343, 255 P.3d 268, 278 (2011) ("concessions in pleadings are judicial admissions"); American Title Ins. Co. v. Lacelaw Corp., 861 F.2d 224, 226 (9th Cir. 1988) (factual assertions in pleadings are considered judicial admissions conclusively binding on the party who made them). Hence, "a plaintiff can plead himself out of court by alleging facts which show that he has no claim, even though he was not required to allege those facts." Soo Line R. Co. v. St. Louis Sw. Ry. Co., 125 F.3d 481, 483 (7th Cir. 1997); see also Sprewell v. Golden State Warriors, 266 F.3d 979, 988-89 (9th Cir. 2001)

(same).⁵ When the NRCP 12(b)(5) standards and these related principles are applied to Ramos's allegations, it is clear the district court properly dismissed this action.

The breach of contract claim, which is the heart of Ramos's complaint, is premised on the allegation that Respondents breached a contract to mediate. Incongruously, the complaint contains multiple judicial admissions confirming the parties had, in fact, engaged in a mediation at the appointed time, at the appointed place, and with the agreed-upon mediator. The gist of Ramos's argument below was that Respondents breached the mediation agreement by failing to negotiate in good faith because they did not offer Ramos any money on the day of the mediation, thus rendering it unsuccessful. These allegations, taken as true from the face of the complaint, confirm beyond doubt that Ramos can prove no set of facts that would entitle him to relief for breach of contract or breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

First, to the extent an agreement to attend a mediation can be considered an enforceable contract, as opposed to merely an agreement to try and reach a future definitive agreement, Ramos's allegations confirm the parties performed. Next,

_

⁵ Notably, the *Soo Line* and *Sprewell* courts articulated this "well-settled rule" when the more lenient pre-*Iqbal/Twombly* standards applied to dismissal motions under FRCP 12(b)(6). Those standards formerly provided, in part, that "a complaint should not be dismissed unless it appears beyond doubt that a plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of the claim that would entitle the plaintiff to relief." *Sprewell*, 266 F.2d at 988. That, of course, is consistent with Nevada's current standards under NRCP 12(b)(5). *See* Point I, *infra*.

insofar as Ramos complains about the lack of an offer on the day of the mediation (notwithstanding that negotiations admittedly continued thereafter), Nevada law does not recognize a so-called duty to negotiate in good faith as that, too, is akin to an unenforceable agreement to agree. See Bond Mfg. Co, Inc. v. Ashley Furniture Indus., Inc., 2018 WL 1511717, at *6 (D. Nev. Mar. 27, 2018) (citing City of Reno v. Silver State Flying Serv., Inc., 84 Nev. 170, 438 P.2d 257 (1968)); see also Barbara Ann Hollier Tr. v. Shack, 131 Nev. 582, 587 n.1, 356 P.3d 1085, 1088 n.1 (2015) ("The implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing [] does not apply during the negotiation or formation phase of a contract.").

Lastly, given the admitted unsuccessful mediation (as well as the admitted unsuccessful later negotiations during which Ramos rejected a six-figure offer) the complaint undisputedly establishes the lack of acceptance and/or meeting of the minds required to support an enforceable contract arising from the mediation and related negotiations. *See May v. Anderson*, 121 Nev. 668, 672, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005) (identifying required elements for a valid contract). Without an enforceable contract, there can be no breach of contract or the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. *See Greenstein v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 2017 WL1173916, at *1 (D. Nev. Mar. 29, 2017).

The dismissal of Ramos's alternative claim for unjust enrichment was likewise appropriate. The complaint's allegations demonstrate that the benefit

Ramos claimed to confer on Respondents—his silence during his criminal proceeding—was simply a court-ordered obligation imposed by the federal judges in that action. Though Ramos chastises Judge Jones's dismissal of this claim on several grounds, none are meritorious.

First, Ramos contends the district court erroneously "found Ramos was under a 'gag order' or 'nondissemination order' without any express evidence thereof and instead apparently reading the protective order far more than it was." OB at 12. This statement borders on a violation of counsel's duty of candor to the court. *See* RPC 3.3(a)(1) (providing that "[a] lawyer shall not knowingly [m]ake a false statement of fact or law to a tribunal"). After all, it was Ramos who specifically used the term "gag order" when describing his non-disclosure obligations during the criminal case. *See* 2 App. 61 (Opp'n at 8:23-25 ("Upon his arrest, a gag order was a condition of Ramos' release by the Magistrate.")); 4 App. 147 (Tr. at 29:6-8 ("[Ramos] could have violated the gag order[.]")). Even if Ramos's criticism of the district court for simply accepting Ramos's own allegations as true had a shred of merit, which it does not, Ramos cannot be heard to complain as he invited the alleged error.

Indeed, Ramos repeatedly alleged (*i.e.*, admitted) in his complaint that the formal protective order entered in his criminal case (which replaced the initial "gag order") precluded him from disclosing White's identity as the victim of his crime until after the close of that case. *See supra* at 8-9. Ramos's new and contradictory

assertion on appeal that the protective order only bound the government and his defense counsel is patently improper as "parties may not raise a new theory for the first time on appeal, which is inconsistent with or different from the one raised below." *Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc.*, 126 Nev. 434, 437, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010) (quotations omitted). The new assertion is also false as the plain language of the protective order expressly applied to "all parties," not just counsel. 2 App. 53 (Protective Order at 5:4-11).

Second, Ramos complains that Judge Jones relied on his own personal opinion of what Judge Navarro would have done in the criminal case when he dismissed the unjust enrichment claim. *See* OB at 3, 9, 12. The record shows otherwise. The subject discussion during the hearing below was focused on whether Ramos's complaint about the failed mediation would have constituted sufficient grounds to set aside his plea agreement in the criminal case. 4 App. 130-31 (Hr'g Tr. 12:1-13:19). It was an academic aside that had nothing to do with the district court's dismissal of the unjust enrichment claim. Indeed, the written order (which controls) never mentions the subject in connection with this claim. 4 App. 115-17 (Order 10:1-12:15).

Third, Ramos contends the dismissal of his unjust enrichment claim is based on an error of law because it was premised, in part, on the Restatement (First) of Restitution, which has been "superseded" in Nevada by the Restatement (Third) of

Restitution and Unjust Enrichment. *See* OB at 23-24. This is nonsense. The Restatements of the Law are treatises published by the American Law Institute that set forth general principles of law in a given field. While a particular principle of law may be superseded over time, Restatements are not superseded *in toto* by subsequent versions. On that point, the Nevada Supreme Court, sitting *en banc*, recently reaffirmed that "Nevada jurisprudence relies on the First *and* Third Restatements of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment for guidance." *Korte Constr. Co. v. Bd. of Regents*, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 37, --- P.3d ----, ----, 2021 WL 3237198, at *3 (Nev. July 29, 2021) (emphasis added). Ramos has identified nothing in the Third Restatement to suggest the district court's reliance on certain principles from the First Restatement has been undermined in any way.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW ON THE DISMISSAL RULING IS DE NOVO.

Respondents agree the Court conducts de novo review of a district court's ruling on a motion to dismiss. *See* OB at 10. Under that standard, all factual allegations in the complaint are deemed true and inferences are drawn in favor of the nonmovant. *See Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). Additionally, a "complaint should be dismissed only if it appears beyond doubt that [the nonmovant] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief." *Id*.

While Ramos argues the district court failed to apply the proper standards under NRCP 12(b)(5), see OB at 8, the record below demonstrates that Judge Jones did exactly what the rule requires—he accepted Ramos's factual allegations as true. At the time of hearing, for example, the court stated:

You [Ramos] brought those facts in front of this Court, and this Court is accepting them as true. [Defendants] just admitted for this motion they are true. So after the date of the mediation, according to you, money was offered. So they agreed to the time, the place, the mediator, they attended, and then within a short period thereafter, they actually offered money – not at the mediation, but shortly thereafter[.]

4 App. 133-34 (Hr'g Tr. 15:22-16:3) (emphases added); *see also id.* at 139 (Hr'g Tr. 21:8-10 ("But *your facts are* that we – *you have brought before this Court* is someone on behalf of Mr. White then went forward and at least attempted to negotiate with your client.") (emphases added).

The district court's written order likewise confirms that Judge Jones accepted Ramos's factual allegations as true and drew every inference in his favor. *See, e.g.*, 4 App. 111, 116 (Order at 6:1-3, 11:3-4). Ramos's argument that the Order "does not adequately or properly reflect the findings at the hearing to dismiss," *see* OB at 10, is both wrong and runs headfirst into the longstanding principle that "[t]he formal written order signed by the court . . . must be taken as the best evidence of the court's decision." *Mortimer v. Pacific States Savings & Loan*, 62 Nev. 142, 153, 145 P.2d 733, 735-36 (1944). His related criticism that the district court should not have delegated the Order's preparation to Respondents' counsel is equally unavailing.

See id. at 153, 145 P.2d at 736 ("The fact that [the order] was prepared by appellant is of no consequence. A court is presumed to read and know what it signs. The practice of preparing entries for the court to sign and enter of record, is proper.").

II. RAMOS'S COMPLAINT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF COULD BE GRANTED.

Ramos challenges the dismissal of his claims for (1) breach of contract, (2) contractual breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and (3) unjust enrichment. The district court's ruling was correct on all counts.

A. Breach of Contract.

Ramos alleged that he and White orally agreed to attend a mediation, that all parties "understood" White would pay Ramos a "substantial" amount of compensation in exchange for a post-criminal proceeding non-disclosure agreement, and that White breached the parties' agreement by not offering to pay Ramos anything at the mediation. See 1 App. 10-11 (Compl. ¶¶ 81-93). Properly treating Ramos's factual allegations as true and drawing every reasonable inference in Ramos's favor, the district court nonetheless determined that Ramos had not stated a claim for breach of contract as the allegations of the complaint expressly pleaded Ramos out of any viable contract claim. 4 App. 111 (citing Sprewell, 266 F.3d at 988-89). This ruling should be affirmed as (i) no enforceable agreement arose from the parties' mediation, and (ii) a party's negotiating positions during a mediation cannot give rise to an independent breach claim under Nevada law.

1. There was no breach arising from the agreement to mediate.

The elements of a breach of contract claim are "(1) the existence of a valid contract, (2) a breach by the defendant, and (3) damage as a result of the breach." Stuhmer v. Talmer W. Bank, 133 Nev. 1080, 404 P.3d 412, 2017 WL 4950062, at *1 (2017) (unpub. disp.) (quoting Saini v. Int'l Game Tech., 434 F. Supp. 2d 913, 919-20 (D. Nev. 2006)). An enforceable contract requires "an offer and acceptance, meeting of the minds, and consideration." May, 121 Nev. at 672, 119 P.3d at 1257. A meeting of the minds exists when the parties have agreed upon the contract's essential terms. Roth v. Scott, 112 Nev. 1078, 1083, 921 P.2d 1262, 1265 (1996). "With respect to contract formation, preliminary negotiations do not constitute a binding contract unless the parties have agreed to all material terms." May, 121 Nev. at 672, 119 P.3d at 1257. "A valid contract cannot exist when material terms are lacking or are insufficiently certain and definite" as "[t]he court must be able to ascertain what is required of the respective parties." Id. "A breach of contract claim that fails to allege facts sufficient to show that an enforceable contract existed between the parties is subject to dismissal." Abu Dhabi Commercial Bank v. Morgan Stanley & Co., Inc., 651 F. Supp. 2d 155, 173 (S.D.N.Y. 2009).

Ramos alleged multiple times that White never offered him any amount of money at the mediation in exchange for a potential non-disclosure agreement. 1 App. 9, 11, 13 (Compl. ¶¶ 78, 91, 113). The mediation, thus, ended unsuccessfully as "no

figure was agreed upon." 1 App. 13 (Compl. ¶ 111) (emphasis added). These binding judicial admissions, see Reyburn Lawn, 127 Nev. at 343, 255 P.3d at 278, establish beyond doubt that the parties never had a meeting of the minds on the essential contract term of price. See, e.g., Nevada Power Co. v. Public Util. Comm'n, 122 Nev. 821, 839-40, 138 P.3d 486, 489-90 (2006) ("When essential terms such as [price] have yet to be agreed upon by the parties, a contract cannot be formed"); Certified Fire Prot. Inc. v. Precision Constr., 128 Nev. 371, 378-79, 283 P.3d 250, 255 (2012) (affirming district court's conclusion that no enforceable contract existed where the parties had not agreed to price and scope of work terms); Roth, 112 Nev. at 1083, 921 P.2d at 1265 (where parties had not agreed to essential terms of the high-low bracket amounts, there was no contract for binding arbitration).

The lack of material terms in Ramos's alleged contract renders it impossible for any court "to ascertain what is required of the respective parties." *May*, 121 Nev. at 672, 119 P.3d at 1257. To begin, Ramos repeatedly alleged the parties never agreed on a payment amount. That Ramos had a subjective belief the payment would be "substantial" does not constitute a meeting of the minds. "Contractual intent is determined by the objective meaning of the words and conduct of the parties under the circumstances, not any secret or unexpressed intention or understanding of one or more parties to the contract." Nev. J.I. 13.7 (Formation; Contractual Intent). Nor is there

any way for a court to ascertain what is meant by "substantial" as this word obviously can have different meanings to different people.

Assuming, arguendo, White had offered a payment amount on the day of the mediation, it is pure guesswork as to whether Ramos would have accepted any such offer. Indeed, Ramos alleged that White offered Ramos and Jane Doe a combined \$450,000 for a nondisclosure agreement in the period following the mediation. 1 App. 12 (Compl. ¶ 101). At the hearing below, Ramos's counsel confirmed that had his client accepted the \$450,000 offer, "we wouldn't be here," but he didn't. 4 App. 139. This admission confirms the absence of at least two required elements for an enforceable contract, acceptance and a meeting of the minds. See May, 121 Nev. at 672, 119 P.3d at 1257; see also Gottwals v. Rencher, 60 Nev. 35, 52, 9 P.2d 481, 484 (1939) (an attorney has authority to make admissions of fact that bind the client). Nor is there any way to ascertain other essential terms of a would-be contract arising from the mediation or the parties' subsequent negotiations such as the timing of the payment, its form (e.g., lump sum or paid in installments over time), the terms of Ramos's nondisclosure obligations, et cetera. The speculation and uncertainty are endless.

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